

University of Kentucky

UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations--Family Sciences

Family Sciences

2018

"DAD, DO YOU WANT TO PLAY WITH ME?" THE IMPACT OF FATHERS WHO MAKE TIME FOR PLAY

Michael S. Sitton

University of Kentucky, mike.s.sitton@gmail.com

Digital Object Identifier: https://doi.org/10.13023/ETD.2018.067

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Sitton, Michael S., ""DAD, DO YOU WANT TO PLAY WITH ME?" THE IMPACT OF FATHERS WHO MAKE TIME FOR PLAY" (2018). *Theses and Dissertations—Family Sciences*. 59. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/hes_etds/59

This Master's Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Family Sciences at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations--Family Sciences by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Michael S. Sitton, Student

Dr. Ronald J. Werner-Wilson, Major Professor

Dr. Hyungsoo Kim, Director of Graduate Studies

"DAD, DO YOU WANT TO PLAY WITH ME?" THE IMPACT OF FATHERS WHO MAKE TIME FOR PLAY

THESIS

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Family Sciences in the College of Agriculture, Food and Environment at the University of Kentucky

By

Michael S. Sitton

Lexington, Kentucky

Director: Ronald J. Werner-Wilson, Ph.D., Professor of Family Sciences

Lexington, Kentucky

2018

Copyright [©] Michael Scott Sitton 2018

ABSTRACT OF THESIS

"DAD, DO YOU WANT TO PLAY WITH ME?" THE IMPACT OF FATHERS WHO MAKE TIME FOR PLAY

With an increase in the pace of life in the United States, there comes a recognition of the importance of prioritizing time, especially for fathers. Of the two-thirds of children who live with their father, only a percentage of them have fathers who report regular play time with their children. However, literature in the field does not explain specifically whether or not this play between father and child influences the child's later risk taking behaviors in high school. Using data from the 2003 Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study (FFCWS), waves 3, 4, and 6, this quantitative study sought to understand the connection between a father's play with his young children and the number of risk taking behaviors exhibited by those children in high school. The results from this study indicate that high school students who had fathers that played with them when they were young, as well as high school students who had fathers that did not play with them when they were young both exhibited similar rates of risk taking behaviors.

KEYWORDS: Fathers, Play, Children, Influence, Risk, School

Michael Scott Sitton

April 9, 2018

"DAD, DO YOU WANT TO PLAY WITH ME?" THE IMPACT OF FATHERS WHO MAKE TIME FOR PLAY

By

Michael S. Sitton

Ronald J. Werner-Wilson, Ph.D. Director of Thesis

<u>Hyungsoo Kim, Ph.D.</u> Director of Graduate School

April 9, 2018



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First, I wish to thank my wife, Stacey. Her support from the beginning has been a blessing, and she motivated me to persevere until I was finished. I also wish to thank my children, Clara and Will, who endured my absence so I could confirm the value of a father's presence.

Next, Dr. Ronald J. Werner-Wilson, my Thesis Chair. He shared his expertise and compassion which enabled me to finally complete this project. I also wish to thank the complete Thesis Committee, who provided insights and feedback that substantially improved the finished product: Dr. Nathan D. Wood, a friend and mentor whom I will strive to emulate in my personal and professional life; and Tracey Werner-Wilson, who taught me language of play; a unique dialect of therapy I hope to one day utilize as masterfully.

Additionally, I wish to thank Dr. Jason D. Hans, who, during the early stages of this project, modeled intensity and innovation—a style I have adopted as my own. Also, Dr. Victor H. Camacho's patient assistance with the statistical portion of this project was timely and precise.

Finally, I wish to thank the respondents of the Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study (who remain anonymous for confidentiality purposes). Their comments and insights created an informative and interesting project with opportunities for future work.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	V
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Literature Review	
Symbolic Interactionism	
Fatherhood and the Family Life Cycle	
Fatherhood Historically	
Shifting Expectations	
Family of Origin	
Work-family Balance	
Impact of Involved Fathers	
Purpose	
Hypothesis	
Chapter 2: Methodology	13
Sample	
Measures	14
Chapter 3: Results	15
Hypothesis	
Chapter 4: Discussion	17
Clinical Implications	
Limitations	
Future Directions	
References	22
Vita	31

List of Tables

Table 2.1, Descriptive Statistics for Waves 3 and 4 of the FFCWS	15
Table 2.2, Descriptive Statistics for Wave 6 of the FFCWS	
Table 2.3, Descriptive Statistics for Combined Success Score	
Table 3.1, Correlation of Types of Play and Combined Success Score	
Table 3.2, Linear Regression Coefficients	

Chapter 1: Introduction

As the pace of life increases for many around the world (Lewis, Gambles, & Rapoport, 2007), the need to preserve some time for relationships has also increased (Gröpel & Kuhl, 2009). With this increase has come heightened awareness surrounding the importance of effectively prioritizing time (Fouché & Martindale, 2011). For example, an increase in the overall number of hours spent working (Virtanen & Kivimäki, 2012) and volunteering (Janoski, Musick, & Wilson, 1998) have imposed on the amount of time people spend with family members, which has negatively impacted the quality of those relationships (Glorieux, Minnen, & Tienoven, 2011). According to the U.S. Census Bureau (2014), 49% of adults in the U.S. are men, and 45% of these men are fathers. Only 35% of fathers are married to the mother of their children, and 8% are single fathers.

As Benson (1968) eloquently observed, "an individual father may be expendable, but the institution of fatherhood is indispensable." As such, men with children face the unique challenge of balancing paid employment (Cooklin et al., 2016) and hobbies (Melman, 2007) with the needs of their spouse (Fong & Bainbridge, 2016) and children (Vieira, Matias, Ferreira, Lopez, & Matos, 2016). This study relates to other studies by anticipating a gap in the literature surrounding the impact of a father's varied roles on his children. This paper will fill seek to fill this gap by looking at children's success as a function of time spent with their father, specifically as it relates to the influence of a father's play. The literature on a father's balance of work and family has some valuable insights.

Literature Review

Much of the existing literature is about the impact of various roles on a father; however, less is known about how the multiple roles fathers fill specifically impact their children. Symbolic interactionism provides a lens to observe how the impact of juggling fatherhood with other important roles affects a child (Blumer, 1969). The Family Life Cycle illustrates how this impact varies over time (Garcia-Preto, 2011), and looking at fatherhood from a historical perspective sheds light on why contemporary fathers are often viewed as evolving (Griswold, 1993). Observing how shifting expectations for fathers affects their children is another important part in understanding the complete process (McLaughlin & Muldoon, 2014). A father's family of origin in particular plays a major role in how many deal with their varied duties (Herland, Hauge, & Helgeland, 2015). Specifically, how a father is able to balance his work and family life (Cooklin, et al., 2016) leads to the impact he has on the future success of his children (Suh et al., 2016). The following sections will examine each of these ideas in further detail, starting with Symbolic Interactionism.

Symbolic Interactionism

George Herbert Mead and Charles Cooley were the founders of Symbolic Interactionism. One of Meads students, Herbert Blumer (1969), observed that "people act toward things based on the meaning those things have for them, and these meanings are derived from social interaction and modified through interpretation". It is this meaning that provides a sense of self (Mogobe, 2005). This theory is integral for understanding the impact of a father's influence in the lives of his children as it relates to the future success of the child. Because a father's success includes both providing for

their children and the quality of his relationship with his children (Tamis-LeMonda, 2004), the meaning he attaches to each of these values may differ than that of his peers. Take the example of a father who believes that his meaning is to solely provide financially for his children. He would vary from a father who believes it is more valuable to spend quality time with his children (Paquette et al., 2000).

Meaning goes beyond the way people see themselves; it is often coupled with the meaning attached to how these roles are filled. For example, fathers who are poor may find that providing financially for their children makes them feel they are effectively fulfilling their role (Cooklin et al., 2016). Conversely, wealthy fathers might value time spent with their children as an accurate measure of their devotion (Carlson, VanOrman, & Turner, 2017). Symbolic Interactionism looks at the meaning a father places on his values, particularly as these values relate to their children and time spent with them. A father's impact in the lives of his children from the perspective of Symbolic Interactionism is made even clearer when viewed through the lens of the Family Life Cycle.

Fatherhood and the Family Life Cycle

The typical family follows the pattern outlined in the seven stages of the Family Life Cycle (Garcia-Preto, 2011): (1) leaving home: emerging young adults; (2) joining of families through marriage/union; (3) families with young children; (4) families with adolescents; (5) launching children and moving on at midlife; (6) families in late middle age; and (7) families nearing the end of life. Fathers with young children often feel low work-life balance due to the adjustment period that accompanies the addition of a child to the family unit (Wynter, Rowe, Tran, & Fisher, 2016). Likewise, fathers with adolescents

as well as fathers with launching children are faced with the increased autonomy of these older children, increasing the level of work-family conflict (Vieira et al., 2016). These situations contribute to diminished quality of the father-child relationship (Reddick, Rochlen, Grasso, Reilly & Spikes, 2012).

Many fathers trying to balance work and family may feel that their dual roles of father and employee are not cohesive (Gasser, 2017). However, recognition of this gap has helped fathers close it as they view their role as caretaker shifting to one of equality with the mother of their children (McLaughlin & Muldoon, 2014). The Family Life Cycle shows that it is typical for fathers at nearly every stage to have to juggle the important roles in their life—family, work, and community. This model also demonstrates that with flexibility and creativity, meeting the needs of varied roles is possible (Bijawat, 2013). Conversely, history views fatherhood with some noticeable differences, particularly when considering the needs of their children.

Fatherhood Historically

Breadwinning was seen as the defining characteristic of fatherhood in the nineteenth century (Griswold, 1993). The Great Depression as well as World War II took many of these breadwinning fathers away from their families. Family roles began to change significantly in the 1960s, with the emergence of the working mother. Fathers generally resisted their proposed increase in housework and childcare, even though many of their wives had full-time jobs (Griswold, 1993). As the decades progressed, an increase in divorce became another factor that took fathers away from their children. This led to one of the major problems faced by fathers in the United States today: how to be included in the caregiving of their children, especially when many do not live with their

children (Griswold, 1993). This resulted in fathers not being in the lives of their children as much as their ex-wives, thus they had a more difficult time connecting with their children (Hawkins, Christiansen, Sargent & Hill, 1993).

Additionally, many families pressured their sons to adopt an aggressive and unemotional masculine role (Sussman, 2012). This stifled what may have been a naturally occurring desire in many boys to nurture and care for future children (Benson, 1968). For example, instead of encouraging reading and quiet indoor games, it became more common to point young boys towards roughhouse play outside. These mixed messages held up a masculine identity that was at odds with what society was starting to expect of their men, particularly fathers (Sussman, 2012). The historical understanding of the traditional view of fatherhood may shed light on why many fathers today find it difficult to connect with their children. While fatherhood historically placed rigid boundaries around gender roles, expectations shifted in the twentieth century from the role of sole breadwinner to co-caregiver (Griswold, 1993).

Shifting Expectations

Unlike the stereotypical men of history, most fathers today desire a strong, close relationship with their children (Marsiglio & Roy, 2012). Fathers are increasingly willing to be an integral part of the day-to-day lives of their children (Caracciolo di Torella, 2015). However, for some, a noticeable tension arises between their traditionally accepted commitment to their children (breadwinning), and the new societal expectations now beginning to be placed upon them (the addition of childcare) (McLaughlin & Muldoon, 2014). For example, fathers from lower socioeconomic backgrounds find that their comparatively young age, limited financial resources, and lack of education puts

them at a disadvantage when seeking to strengthen relationships with their children (Marsiglio & Roy, 2012). Additionally, with the increase of divorce, the majority of the time non-resident fathers get to be with their children is only on the weekends (Hook & Wolfe, 2012).

When fathers are with their children less frequently, they have less opportunity to make a positive impact. One way that this has been addressed in the last few decades is by corporate paternity programs which encourage fathers to create stronger relationships with their children (Marsiglio & Roy, 2012). This allows fathers to be more available to co-parent and WANT TO learn the necessary skills to be a more effective father. This type of cultural change would allow the nurturing father to become a more accepted role, as well as effectively influencing policies that relate to families in the context of joint custody, family law, and paternity lease (Marsiglio & Roy, 2012). The way in which a society supports the nurturing father through these types of policies will significantly influence the health of that community (Marsiglio & Roy, 2012). Thus, by embracing these shifting societal expectations and making time for their children, fathers will be able to successfully model masculinity for their sons as well as what to expect in a future husband for their daughters (Kelly, 2017). Along with society's shifting expectations for father-involvement, a father's family of origin plays a big role in how they view the importance of father-child time.

Family of Origin

The challenges faced by men when they are growing up are often reflected in how they parent their own children (Herland, Hauge, & Helgeland, 2015). Herland and colleagues (2015) identified several roles that a father's family of origin plays in this

regard. First, while some fathers exhibited personal characteristics that allowed them to break the cycle of repeated parenting, more often there was a pattern of turbulent relationships and living away from their children. They also found that most men—whether resident or non-resident fathers—had a "fragile point of balance", meaning that when these men experienced either a break in the relationship with their child's mother or a relapse into addiction, these fathers simultaneously had to deal with a decrease in relationship quality with their children.

Another important part of the impact of a father's family of origin was the sources of outside support available to the fathers (Marsiglio, Day, & Lamb, 2000). When someone outside the father-child relationship recognized the importance of a father's role in the lives of his children, a support system was formed that allowed these fathers to use the resources available (Dumont & Paquette, 2013). Help from the children's mother, as well as child welfare services, was instrumental in assisting these fathers in becoming and remaining an involved part of their child's life (Cabrera, Shannon, & Tamis-LeMonda, 2007). A father's family of origin appears to be directly connected to how he views spending time with his children. Like the patterns fathers perpetuate from their families of origin, obtaining balance in work and family pursuits is intertwined with the quality of father-child relationships.

Work-family Balance

Work-life balance is defined as "the extent to which a person experiences feeling fulfilled and having his or her work-life needs met in both the work and non-work facets of life" (Rife & Hall, 2015). This idea of balance is instrumental in understanding the impact fathers have in the lives of their children. Fathers want to meet their personal

needs, but are also increasingly passionate about fulfilling their obligation to care for their children both financially and emotionally (Caracciolo di Torella, 2015).

There are many characteristics that affect how fathers experience balance in their dual role as provider and caregiver. One study found that fathers who were the sole breadwinner as well as fathers who worked more than forty hours per week reported higher work-family conflict (Cooklin, et al., 2016). Others have noted that the more time fathers spend at work, the less time they have to build relationships with their children (Fong & Bainbridge, 2016). Also, a father's satisfaction with his partner is associated with how he chose to spend his time (Fong & Bainbridge, 2016). For example, a father who is constantly fighting with the mother of his children is less likely to feel he has sufficient time to build a relationship with his children, which directly impacts the child's functioning (Easterbrooks, Raskin, & McBrian, 2014). Other factors that play into the reported work-life balance of fathers is the quality of their sleep and their perceived quality of personal time. This is closely correlated with reported happiness, stress, and fatigue (Musick, Meier, & Flood, 2016). Additionally, a child's behavior and reported relationship quality with their father was related to how successful their father felt at achieving work-family balance (Vieira et al., 2016).

A father's workplace also plays a role in work-family balance. Bahadur (2015) found that work-family balance was dependent on how highly the workplace culture viewed family time as well as the ability of these fathers to flexibly adjust their schedule to accommodate family needs. In a similar light, family and socioeconomic status play pivotal roles. Namely, while family support was found to assist in achieving work-family balance, economic disparity was found to hinder the same (Baxter, 2007). A father's

ability to spend time with his children is affected by his experience with work-life balance. The ability to cope with the strain of numerous roles is key to avoiding becoming overwhelmed.

There are many ways to combat the overexertion that often accompanies the role of breadwinner and father. Reddick et al. (2012) have identified several. For example, some men with children cope by compartmentalizing their responsibilities. Others do so by placing a high priority on communication with a spouse or peers. Still others take advantage of workplace policies that lighten their load, thus lessening the conflict. Wada and colleagues (2015) observed consistencies among fathers who reported comparatively higher levels of work-family balance. Namely, the triad of (1) ensuring their family's financial security, (2) being actively involved in family life, and (3) enjoying periodic alone time (Wada, Backman & Forwell, 2015). All were instrumental in allowing these fathers to feel the peace that came from the harmony of work and family life.

Additionally, when both biological caregivers were living with their children they were able to share caregiving responsibilities, reducing work-family conflict (Kalil, Ryan, & Chor, 2014). This finding is supported by Cohen-Israeli and Remennick (2015), who found that divorced fathers experienced a greater degree of work-family conflict than they did when they were married. Ranson (2012) even argued that divorced fathers could be compared to single working mothers, who traditionally are the center of the debate regarding work-family conflict. The ability to effectively cope with the demands of more than one role is clearly the cornerstone of a father's ability to spend increased time with his family. The impact of this invested time between a father and child is significant in a child's life.

Impact of Involved Fathers

The impact of a father who is involved in the lives of his children is noticeable. Whether the father is resident or nonresident, the quality of his relationship with the child's mother is the first indicator as to whether the father is likely to have a strong relationship with his child (Suh et al., 2016). How they viewed the role of a father is also telling. For example, couples who valued the father's role as separate and distinct from that of the mother reported greater father-child involvement (Adamsons & Pasley, 2016). Also, a father's feelings about his life and that of his partner were significant contributing factors. When fathers felt positively towards their child's mother as well as about their own life, they were more likely to engage in play, caregiving, and reading with their children (Baker, 2014).

Throughout the early life of his child, a father's sense of competence influences the outcome of his child's emotions and behavior (Rominov, Giallo, & Whelan, 2016). For example, fathers who were involved in routine postnatal care were also found to have had higher father-to-infant attachment (Wynter et al., 2016). As a child grows, the relationship quality between fathers and their children can be predicted by the level of the father's verbal temperament (Neuendorf, Rudd, Palisin, & Pask, 2015). This same pattern held as their children grew into young adulthood. For example, teenagers who had quality relationships with their fathers experienced a smoother transition to adulthood than young adults who did not have such a relationship (Lindell, Campione-Barr, & Killoren, 2017). Thus, fathers who were involved early on in their child's life were more likely to stay involved throughout their life.

There are three significant factors to consider when comparing resident and non-resident fathers as it relates to influence (Shannon & Tamis-LeMonda, 2002): (1) child support payments, (2) the mother's education level, and (3) the socioeconomic status of the family. When any of these three factors were abated or absent, nonresident fathers exhibited less time and lower quality relationships with their children (National Center for Education Statistics, 1997). However, these were not significant indicators with resident fathers (Abramovitch, 1997). Additionally, resident fathers also saw their children exhibit greater mental dexterity and empathy, a more developed sense of egalitarian gender roles, and a higher propensity for self-control (Salisch, 2001). Religious involvement was also correlated with greater fatherhood involvement in the lives of their children. One study found that the more frequently a father attended worship services with his children, the more likely he was to have a strong relationship with them (Lynn, Grych, & Fosco, 2016).

A father who lives with his children simply has more time to be with them, giving him an advantage when it came to building relationships. Resident fathers are also correlated with decreased risk taking behaviors in older children (Sandseter, 2010). At its foundation, children are affected by the levels of trust and communication they share with their father (Yoder, Brisson, & Lopez, 2016). For example, children who had a low-quality relationship with their father tended to exhibit more antisocial behavior than their peers (Kim, Kochanska, Boldt, Nordling, & O'Bleness, 2014). They also engaged in frequent, earlier sexual intercourse (Nogueira Avelar e Silva, van de Bongardt, van de Looij-Jansen, Wijtzes, & Raat, 2016), while children who had fathers that regularly played with them when they were young tended to be more securely attached and

exhibited fewer emotional disturbances (Bureau et al., 2017). They also showed increased emotional and behavioral functioning and self-regulation (St George, Fletcher, & Palazzi, 2017). Clearly, children who had fathers who were involved in their lives were more likely to exhibit risk taking behaviors less often than children who had uninvolved fathers.

Similarly, how involved a father is in the life of his child impacts their scholastic achievement (Gordon, 2017). A father's involvement in the life of his child during their early years has been shown to contribute to their later language and literacy proficiency (Bredekamp & Copple, 1997), as well as comparatively higher academic across all grade levels (National Center for Education Statistics, 1997, 2007). This effect is also shown in a reduction of discipline problems at school (Amato & Riviera, 1999). Preschoolers who have strong verbal skills also tend to have fathers who are an active part of their lives (Radin, 1982). Additionally, girls who have a strong relationship with their father tend to do better in mathematics (Radin & Russell, 1983), and boys are more likely to do better on achievement tests (Biller, 1993). This upward spiral of scholastic success can be attributed to fatherhood involvement, including the promotion of their child's curiosity and problem solving skills. Additionally, a child's desire to explore and their self-confidence in their ability to solve problems was more prevalent (Pruett, 2000). This review of the literature provides a foundation for the purpose of this study.

Purpose

The literature suggests that despite a father's busy schedule, time spent involved in the lives of his children will impact their success at home, in school, and throughout their lives. The purpose of this thesis, therefore, is to determine whether or not fathers

who made time specifically for play had a measurable, positive impact on their child's life in high school. To do so, this study will analyze the impact of fathers who make time

for play relative to their children's ability to avoid risk taking behaviors in high school.

Hypothesis

The more days per week a father makes time to play with his young child, the

fewer risk taking behaviors the child will report in high school.

Chapter 2: Methodology

Sample

Data for this study was taken from Waves 3, 4 and 6 of the 2003 Fragile Families

and Child Wellbeing Study (FFCWS), conducted by McLanahan and colleagues. 4,898

children were studied by Princeton and Columbia Universities. Funding came from 4

government programs and over 20 foundations within the U.S. (McLanahan et al., 2003).

Wave 3 took place from 2001 to 2003, when the children were 3 years old, and a

subset of 2,281 fathers participated via in-person interviews. Of the 2,281 fathers who

took the survey, 2,113 reported engaging in imaginative play with their 3-year-old child

at least once a week, and 2,188 reported playing with toys with their 3-year-old child at

least once a week (McLanahan et al., 2003).

Wave 4 took place from 2003 to 2006, when the children were 5 years old. A

subset of 2,180 fathers participated via in-person interviews. Of the 2,180 fathers who

took the survey, 2,076 reported playing with toys with their 5-year-old child at least once

a week, and 2,119 reported playing outside with their 5-year-old child at least once a

week (McLanahan et al., 2003).

13

Wave 6 took place from 2014 to 2017, at the time the children were 15 years old. A subset of 3,423 children participated by taking a 1-hour phone survey. Of the 3,423 teens who took the survey, 1,653 reported failing at least one class in high school; 908 reported being expelled from school at least once; 455 reported having engaged in sexual intercourse at least once in high school; and 743 reported having tried marijuana at least once in high school (McLanahan et al., 2003).

Measures

To determine the frequency with which fathers engaged in play-based activities with their 3 and 5-year-old children, the following questions were used for analysis: "How many days a week do you play imaginary games with him/her?" (Imagine_3). "How many days per week do you play inside with toys such as blocks or Legos with him/her?" (Inside_3). "How many days per week do you play inside with toys such as blocks or Legos with him/her?" (Inside_5). "How many days per week do you play outside in the yard, park, or a playground with him/her?" (Outside_5). Participants had the option to answer "0–7 days per week," or "don't know." Respondents who refused or did not know were omitted from the analysis. See Table 2.1

To determine the child's success score in their high-school years, the following questions were used for analysis: "Have you ever failed a class in school?" (Failed). "Have you been suspended or expelled from school in the past two years?" (Suspended). "Have you ever had sexual intercourse with anyone, that is, made love, had sex, or gone all the way?" (Sex). "Have you ever tried marijuana?" (Marijuana). Participants were instructed to answer "yes," "no," or "don't know." Respondents who refused or did not know were omitted from the analysis. See Table 2.2

For each child, a success score was calculated by giving one point for each type of risk taking behaviors the child avoided. For example, if the child had never tried marijuana, they received 1 point; if they had tried it at least once, they received 0 points. This was done for all four types of risk taking behaviors. Possible scores, therefore, ranged from 0–4. On average, children tended to avoid roughly 3 out of the 4 risk taking behaviors. See Table 2.3.

Table 2.1 Descriptive Statistics for Waves 3 and 4 of the FFCWS				
Type of Play	Mean	Standard Deviation	N	
Imagination_3	4.64	2.39	2271	
Inside_3	5.31	2.18	2285	
Inside_5	4.43	2.28	2179	
Outside_5	3.62	2.01	2176	

Table 2.2 Descriptive Statistics for Wave 6 of the FFCWS				
Type of Delinquency	Yes	No		
Failed	1653 (48.3%)	1770 (51.7%)		
Suspended	908 (26.5%)	2,515 (73.5%)		
Sex	455 (13.3%)	2,968 (86.7%)		
Marijuana	743 (21.7%)	2,680 (78.3%)		

Table 2.3 Descriptive Statistics for Combined Success Score				
	Mean	Standard Deviation	N	
Combined Success	2.80	1.19	3375	

Chapter 3: Results

Hypothesis

Hypothesis: The more days per week a father makes time to play with his young child, the fewer risk taking behaviors the child will report in high school.

A correlation matrix was calculated for the different types of play and the combined success score. There was no significant correlation between the combined success score and any individual type of play. See Table 3.1.

The father's engagement in imaginary play on a weekly basis with the child at the age of three (Imagine_3) was not correlated with the child's combined success score at the age of 15, r (1720) = .037, p = 0.129. The father's engagement in inside play on a weekly basis with the child at the age of three (Inside_3) was not correlated with the child's combined success score at the age of 15, r (1727) = -0.016, p = 0.516. The father's engagement in inside play on a weekly basis with the child at the age of 5 (Inside_5) was not correlated with the child's combined success score at the age of 15, r (1676) = -0.016, p = 0.517. The father's engagement in outside play on a weekly basis with the child at the age of five (Outside_5) was not correlated with the child's combined success score at the age of 15, r (1674) = -0.028, p = 0.250.

A multiple linear regression analysis was performed to determine if the play variables in combination had any predictive power for the combined success score. The multiple linear regression had an r² value of .005, with a standard error of 1.09. Thus, the play variables studied explain virtually none of the variation in the combined success score. The only variable that was statistically significant in this regression was Imagine_3. However, it was not practically significant. The average predicted difference in combined success score between a child whose father played imaginary games 0 days per week compared with 7 days per week was approximately 0.2. Therefore, imaginary play in practicality has very little impact on a child's combined success score as seen in Table 3.2. Based on these results, the hypothesis is not supported by the data.

The impact of 17 other factors were tested for their ability to predict the combined success score. A stepwise regression was run to determine the optimal set of significant variables to include in the model. There were 6 variables selected, including how many days per week a father did the following with his children: shared TV time, assisted with feeding, put them to bed, took them out to eat, took them to visit relatives, or read to them. All combined, the r² value of this multiple linear regression model was 0.06, with a standard error of 1.07. While this explains very little of the variation in combined success scores, it was higher than our model that only included play variables.

Table 3.1 Correlation of Types of Play and Combined Success Score					
	Imagine_3	Inside_3	Inside_5	Outside_5	Combined Success
Imagine_3	1				
Inside_3	.378**		1		
Inside_5	.236**	.404**		1	
Outside_5	.189**	.250**	.347**		1
Combined Success	.037	016	016	028	1

Table 3.2 Linear Regression Coefficients				
Variable	Unstandardized Coefficient	Significance		
Constant	3.073	.000		
Imagine_3	.028	.043		
Inside_3	013	.413		
Inside_5	015	.318		
Outside_5	014	.369		

Chapter 4: Discussion

Much of the literature on a father's influence focuses on the various ways in which his presence generally influences the children's lives (Coyl-Shepherd & Hanlon, 2013; Kokkinaki & Vasdekis, 2014). However, less has been written specifically on whether play with young children has an impact on their later years (St George et al.,

2017). As outlined earlier, there are numerous perspectives that provide context when considering the influence of a father. Symbolic Interactionism shows that a father's many roles do impact the perception of his children and how they view him and their own world (Blumer, 1969). The Family Life Cycle illustrates how the impact of a father can change over time (Garcia-Preto, 2011). From a historical lens, the societal ideals of fatherhood have significantly evolved (Griswold, 1993), and these shifting expectations will affect the children in many ways (McLaughlin & Muldoon, 2014). The family of origin of today's father also plays a role in how he raises his children (Herland, Hauge, & Helgeland, 2015). Finally, how a father balances his work and family is the foundation of the level of involvement he is able to have in the lives of their children (Cooklin, et al., 2016). These ever shifting ideas will always cause fathers to favor certain types of activities over others when seeking to strengthen relationships with their children. Thus, the specific types of interactions used, including play, are likely to generate different outcomes (Suh et al., 2016).

There were four types of play surveyed in this study: imaginary play at age 3; inside play at age 5; and outside play at age 5. The goal was to see if any or all of these types of play between a father and his young child would significantly influence the children when they were in high school. Four aspects of risk taking behaviors were chosen to determine the possible connection between play and whether or not the student had ever: failed a class; been suspended from school; had sexual intercourse; or, tried marijuana.

The hypothesis for this study was the more days per week a father makes time to play with his young child, the fewer risk taking behaviors the child will report in high school. The data suggests that early childhood play among fragile families was not a good predictor of success in high school. Given the connection between quality of parenting and environmental components (Chazan-Cohen et al., 2009), perhaps the poverty of many of the participants negatively skewed the otherwise influential impact of early childhood play. The results of this study did not support the hypothesis. Neither children whose fathers played with them while young, nor children whose fathers did not play with them while young, exhibited any significant differences in levels of risk taking behaviors.

Clinical Implications

Most of the fathers in the Fragile Family and Child Wellbeing Study were not married to the mother of their children (McLanahan et al., 2003). However, research suggests that a father's influence is most profoundly felt when he is living with his children (Dumont & Paquette, 2013). As many fathers do not live with their children, clinicians who work with children and their fathers may find it advantageous to demonstrate how to connect with a child through play, particularly imaginative play. Showing a father how to play with their child may relieve the anxiety many fathers have about connecting with their children. This would make it easier for fathers to create a new meaning behind the experience of playing with their children, further strengthening the relationship.

Limitations

This thesis used data that was collected by the Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study, so it is necessary to acknowledge areas that limit the findings. As the data used was previously collected, identifying research questions that were well suited to

interview questions proved to hamper the depth of analysis. Initially, this study was going to look at numerous areas of accomplishment in the lives of high school age children. However, upon examining the specific types of participants in this study (i.e. unmarried parents, families living below the poverty line, individuals with limited educational attainment, etc.), it became clear that there were other, often overarching characteristics that may have curtailed the hypothesis (i.e. poverty).

Additionally, the correlations between a father's early childhood play and high school risk taking behaviors were single item correlations, thus diluting the strength of the connection. The types of play addressed were also limited, making it difficult to know if there were other types of fatherhood play that might have been significant. Furthermore, the outputs examined were decidedly focused on risk taking behaviors. Perhaps looking at the positive things children accomplished in high school would have shown a more significant correlation. The ratio of risk taking behaviors students who did not have regular play time with their father as young children was supported. While not significant, this is a finding which a larger sample size that included non-fragile families might address.

Future Directions

A pattern from the data is the early influence of a father on his children's later years. Future studies may consider poverty and divorce separately when focusing on the impact of a father's early childhood play. As these variables have such pervasive influence, they likely would negate an otherwise positive, measurable impact. Additionally, research could compare a father's play from fragile families to non-fragile families to examine the similarities and differences. Yet another study could observe the

effects of a father's play in the lives of their children throughout each stage of the Family Life Cycle. During each stage, questions about connection and attachment may be more thoroughly understood. This life-course perspective may provide greater understanding of the long-term benefits of a father's play with his children.

References

- Abramovitch, H. (1997). *Images of the "Father" in The Role of the Father in Child Development*. M.E. Lamb, Ed., New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Adamsons, K., & Pasley, K. (2016). Parents' fathering identity standards and later father involvement. *Journal of Family Issues*, *37*, 221–244. doi:10.1177/0192513X13514407.
- Amato, P.R., & Rivera, F. (1999). Paternal Involvement and Children's Behavior Problems. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *61*, 375–384.
- Bahadur, K. (2015). Men's Work-life Balance: Factors Affecting Balance. *International Journal of Diverse Identities*, 14, 9–20.
- Baker, C. E. (2014). African American fathers' depression and stress as predictors of father involvement during early childhood. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 40, 311–333. doi:10.1177/0095798413486480.
- Benson, L. G. (1968). Fatherhood: A Sociological Perspective. New York, NY: Random House.
- Bijawat, S. (2013). The Juggling Act: Managing Work Family Conflict and Job Satisfaction in Academicians, *Journal of Human Values*, 19, 189–201.
- Biller, H.B. (1993). Fathers and Families: Paternal Factors in Child Development.

 Westport, CT: Auburn House.
- Blumer, H. G. (1969). *Symbolic Interactionism: Perspective and Method*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

- Bredekamp, S. and Copple, C. (1997). *Developmentally Appropriate Practice in Early Childhood Programs*. Washington, D.C.: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Bureau, J., Martin, J., Yurkowski, K., Schmiedel, S., Quan, J., Moss, E., and Pallanca, D. (2017). Correlates of child–father and child–mother attachment in the preschool years. *Attachment & Human Development*, *19*, 130–150. doi:10.1080/14616734.2016.1263350.
- Caracciolo di Torella, E. (2015). Men in the work/family reconciliation discourse: the swallows that did not make a summer? *Journal of Social Welfare & Family Law*, 37, 334–344. doi:10.1080/09649069.2015.1081218.
- Carlson, M. J., VanOrman, A. G., & Turner, K. J. (2017). Fathers' Investments of Money and Time Across Residential Contexts. *Journal of Marriage & Family*, 79, 10–23. doi:10.1111/jomf.12324.
- Chazan-Cohen, R., Raikes, H., Brooks-Gunn, J., Ayoub, C., Pan, B. A., Kisker, E. E., Fuligni, A. S. (2009). Contributions of the parenting environment during the first five years of life to child outcomes at kindergarten entry in a low-income sample. *Early Education and Development*, 20, 958–977.
- Cohen-Israeli, L., & Remennick, L. (2015). 'As a divorcee, I am a better father': Work and parenting among divorced men in Israel. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 56, 535–550. doi:10.1080/10502556.2015.1080083.
- Cooklin, A. R., Westrupp, E. M., Strazdins, L., Giallo, R., Martin, A., & Nicholson, J. M. (2016). Fathers at Work. *Journal of Family Issues*, *37*, 1611–1635. doi:10.1177/0192513X14553054.

- Coyl-Shepherd, D. D. & Hanlon, C. (2013). Family play and leisure activities: correlates of parents' and children's socio-emotional well-being. *International Journal of Play*, 2, 254–272. doi:10.1080/21594937.2013.855376.
- Easterbrooks, M. A., Raskin, M., & McBrian, S. F. (2014). Father involvement and toddlers' behavior regulation: Evidence from a high social risk sample.

 Fathering: A Journal of Theory, Research, and Practice About Men as Fathers, 12, 71–93. doi:10.3149/fth.1201.71.
- Fong, M. M., & Bainbridge, H. J. (2016). Working fathers: determinants of time allocation to work and family roles. *Labour & Industry*, 26, 203–219. doi:10.1080/10301763.2016.1214797.
- Fouché, C., & Martindale, K. (2011). Work–life balance: Practitioner well-being in the social work education curriculum. *Social Work Education*, *30*, 675–685. doi:10.1080/02615479.2011.586566.
- Garcia-Preto, N. (2011). *Transformation of the family system during adolescence*. In M. McGoldrick, B. Carter, & N. Garcia-Preto (Eds.), The expanded Family Life Cycle (pp.232–2460). New York: Pearson Higher Education.
- Gasser, M. (2017). Time Spent on Child Care by Fathers in Leadership Positions: The Role of Work Hours and Flextime. *Journal of Family Issues*, *38*, 1066–1088. doi:10.1177/0192513X15597291.
- Glorieux, I., Minnen, J., & Tienoven, T. (2011). Spouse "together time": Quality time within the household. *Social Indicators Research*, 101, 281–287. doi:10.1007/s11205-010-9648-x.

- Gordon, M. S. (2017). Self-perception and relationship quality as mediators of father's school-specific involvement and adolescent's academic achievement. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 7794–100. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.04.001.
- Griswold, R. L. (1993). Fatherhood in America: A History. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Gröpel, P., & Kuhl, J. (2009). Work-life balance and subjective well-being: The mediating role of need fulfillment. *British Journal of Psychology*, 100, 365–375. doi:10.1348/000712608X337797.
- Hawkins, A. J., Christiansen, S. L., Sargent, K. P., & Hill, E. J. (1993). Rethinking Fathers' Involvement in Child Care. *Journal of Family Issues*, *14*, 531–549.
- Herland, M. D., Hauge, M., & Helgeland, I. M. (2015). Balancing fatherhood:

 Experiences of fatherhood among men with a difficult past. *Qualitative Social*Work, 14, 242–258 doi:10.1177/1473325014528737.
- Hook, J. L., & Wolfe, C. M. (2012). New fathers? Residential fathers' time with children in four countries. *Journal of Family Issues*, 33, 415–450.doi:10.1177/0192513X11425779.
- Janoski, T., Musick, M., & Wilson, J. (1998). Being volunteered? The impact of social participation and pro-social attitudes on volunteering. *Sociological Forum*, *13*, 495–519.
- Kalil, A., Ryan, R., & Chor, E. (2014). Time investments in children across family structures. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 654, 150–168. doi:10.1177/0002716214528276.
- Kelly, T. M. (2017). Daughters' perceptions of their relationships with their fathers after parents' divorce. *The Family Journal*, 25, 376-382.

- Kim, S., Kochanska, G., Boldt, L. J., Nordling, J. K., & O'Bleness, J. J. (2014).
 Developmental trajectory from early responses to transgressions to future antisocial behavior: Evidence for the role of the parent–child relationship from two longitudinal studies. *Development and Psychopathology*, 26, 93–109. doi:10.1017/S0954579413000850.
- Kokkinaki, T. & Vasdekis, V. G. S. (2014). Comparing emotional coordination in early spontaneous mother–infant and father–infant interactions. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, *12*, 69–84. doi:10.1080/17405629.2014.950220.
- Lewis, S., Gambles, R., & Rapoport, R. (2007). The constraints of a 'work-life balance' approach: An international perspective. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 18, 360–373. doi:10.1080/09585190601165577.
- Lindell, A. K., Campione-Barr, N., & Killoren, S. E. (2017). Implications of Parent—
 Child Relationships for Emerging Adults' Subjective Feelings About Adulthood. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 31, 810–820. doi:10.1037/fam0000328.
- Lynn, M., Grych, J., & Fosco, G. (2016). Influences on Father Involvement: Testing for Unique Contributions of Religion. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 25, 3247–3259.
- Marsiglio, W., & Roy, K. (2012). *Nurturing dads: Social initiatives for contemporary fatherhood*. New York, NY, US: Russell Sage Foundation.
- McLanahan, S., Garfinkel, I., Reichman, N., Teitler, J., Carlson, M. and Audigier, C. N. (2003). *The fragile families and child wellbeing study*. Bendheim-Thorman Center for Research on Child Wellbeing.

- McLaughlin, K., & Muldoon, O. (2014). Father Identity, Involvement and Work-Family Balance: An In-depth Interview Study. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 24, 439–452.
- Melman, S. (2007). Adolescent overscheduling: The relationship between levels of participation in scheduled activities and self-reported clinical symptomology. *High School Journal*, 90, 18–30.
- Mogobe, D. K. (2005). Denying and preserving self: Batswana women's experiences of infertility. *African Journal of Reproductive Health*, 7, 26–37.
- Musick, K., Meier, A., & Flood, S. (2016). How parents fare: Mothers' and fathers' subjective well-being in time with children. *American Sociological Review*, 81, 1069–1095. doi:10.1177/0003122416663917.
- National Center for Education Statistics (1997). Fathers' Involvement in Their Children's Schools; National Household Education Survey. NCES 98–091R2. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education.
- National Center for Education Statistics, U.S. Department of Education. (2007).

 Retrieved from https://www.fatherhood.gov/content/dad-stats.
- Neuendorf, K. A., Rudd, J. E., Palisin, P., & Pask, E. B. (2015). Humorous communication, verbal aggressiveness, and father-son relational satisfaction. *Humor: International Journal of Humor Research*, 28, 397–425. doi:10.1515/humor-2015–0066.
- Nogueira Avelar e Silva, R., van de Bongardt, D., van de Looij-Jansen, P., Wijtzes, A., & Raat, H. (2016). Mother– and father–adolescent relationships and early sexual intercourse. *Pediatrics*, 6, 138. pii: e20160782.

- Pruett, K. D. (2000). Fatherneed: Why Father Care is as Essential as Mother Care for Your Child. New York: Free Press.
- Radin, N. (1982). *Primary Caregiving and Role-Sharing Fathers in Non-Traditional*Families. Parenting and Child Development, edited by M. Lamb, Hillsdale, NJ:

 Erlbaum, pp. 173–204.
- Radin, N. & Russell, G. (1983). *Increased Father Participation and Child Development Outcomes in Fatherhood and Family Policy*. Edited by M.E. Lamb and A. Sagi, Hillside, N.J.: Lawrence Erlbaum, pp. 191–218.
- Ranson, G. (2012). Men, paid employment and family responsibilities: Conceptualizing the 'working father'. *Gender, Work and Organization, 19*, 741–761. doi:10.1111/j.1468–0432.2011.00549.x.
- Reddick, R. J., Rochlen, A. B., Grasso, J. R., Reilly, E. D., & Spikes, D. D. (2012).

 Academic fathers pursuing tenure: A qualitative study of work-family conflict, coping strategies, and departmental culture. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 13, 1–15. doi:10.1037/a0023206.
- Rife, A. A., & Hall, R. J. (2015). Work-life balance. *Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 4. Retrieved from http://www.siop.org/WhitePapers/WorkLifeBalance.pdf.
- Robotham, D. (2012). Student part-time employment: Characteristics and consequences. *Education & Training*, *54*, 65–75. doi:10.1108/00400911211198904.
- Rominov, H., Giallo, R., & Whelan, T. A. (2016). Fathers' postnatal distress, parenting self-efficacy, later parenting behavior, and children's emotional-behavioral

- functioning: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *30*, 907–917. doi:10.1037/fam0000216.
- Salisch, M. V. (2001). Children's emotional development: Challenges in their relationships to parents, peers, and friends. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 25, 310-319. doi:10.1080/01650250143000058.
- St George, J., Fletcher, R., & Palazzi, K. (2017). Comparing Fathers' Physical and Toy Play and Links to Child Behavior: An Exploratory Study. *Infant & Child Development*, 26, 1–22.
- Suh, G. W., Fabricius, W. V., Stevenson, M. M., Parke, R. D., Cookston, J. T., Braver, S. L., & Saenz, D. S. (2016). Effects of the interparental relationship on adolescents' emotional security and adjustment: The important role of fathers. *Developmental Psychology*, 52, 1666–1678. doi:10.1037/dev0000204.
- Sussman, H. (2012). *Masculine identities: The history and meanings of manliness*. Santa Barbara, CA, US: Praeger/ABC-CLIO.
- U.S. Census Bureau (2014). *National Responsible Fatherhood Clearinghouse, Dad Stats*.

 Retrieved from https://www.fatherhood.gov/content/dad-stats.
- Wada, M., Backman, C. L., & Forwell, S. J. (2015). Men's discursive constructions of balance in everyday life. *Community, Work & Family*, 18, 117–133. doi:10.1080/13668803.2014.965662.
- Wynter, K., Rowe, H., Tran, T., & Fisher, J. (2016). Factors associated with father-to-infant attachment at 6 months postpartum: A community-based study in Victoria, Australia. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, *34*, 185–195. doi:10.1080/02646838.2015.1136051.

- Vieira, J. M., Matias, M., Ferreira, T., Lopez, F. G., & Matos, P. M. (2016). Parents' work-family experiences and children's problem behaviors: The mediating role of the parent-child relationship. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 30, 419–430. doi:10.1037/fam0000189.
- Virtanen, M., & Kivimäki, M. (2012). Saved by the bell: Does working too much increase the likelihood of depression? *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, 12, 497–499. doi:10.1586/ern.12.2.
- Yoder, J. R., Brisson, D., & Lopez, A. (2016). Moving beyond fatherhood involvement:

 The association between father—child relationship quality and youth delinquency trajectories. Family Relations: An Interdisciplinary Study. *Journal of Applied Family Studies*, 65, 462–476. doi:10.1111/fare.12197.

Vita

Michael S. Sitton

EDUCATIONAL INSITUTIONS

B.S., Sociology, 2012 Emphasis in Marriage and Family Brigham Young University – Idaho Rexburg, Idaho

PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS HELD

Fatherhood Education Coordinator, Utah State University, 2016-Present Director of Tooele Afterschool Program, Valley Behavioral Health, 2017-2018 Motor Transport Operator, 19th Special Forces Group (Airborne), 2014-2017 Research Assistant, University of Kentucky, 2012-2014 Intern Therapist, University of Kentucky Family Center, 2013-2014 Intern Therapist, Garden Springs Elementary School, 2013-2014 Intern Therapist, Tates Creek High School, 2013-2014 Teaching Assistant, University of Kentucky, 2013-2014 Undergraduate Intern, Brigham Young University – Idaho, 2011-2012

SCHOLASTIC AND PROFESSIONAL HONORS

Member, Utah Army National Guard Veterans Association, 2017-Present Member, American Association for Marriage and Family Therapy, 2012-Present Member, National Council on Family Relations, 2012-Present